
 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS  

MEETING 
 

Wednesday, September 16, 2015 
Village Hall Board Room 
40 East Center Avenue 

7:00 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
 
2. Consideration of the August 19, 2015 PCZBA Meeting Minutes  

 
3. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors (Public Comment Time) 

The Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals Chair and Board Members allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for 
those individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Board on any matter not listed on the agenda. Each person addressing 
the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals is asked to limit their comments to a maximum of three (3) minutes. 

 
4. Continuation of a Public Hearing to Consider: (i) a Variation from the Maximum 

Gross Floor Area Requirements of Section 10-5-6 of Village’s Zoning Regulations; 
and (ii) any Other Relief as Required to Convert the Existing Attic into an Office and 
Recreation Space for the Property Located at 403 E. Center Avenue  
 

5. A Public Hearing to Consider a Request by Lake Effect Holdings, LLC for an 
amendment to an existing Special Use Permit to Operate a Brewery Located at 16 E. 
Scranton Avenue  
 

6. A Continued Discussion Regarding the Review of Regulations Concerning the 
Subdivision of Lots and the Village’s Bulk Regulations 
 

7. An Update and Continued Discussion Regarding Updates to the Village’s 
Comprehensive Plan 
 
 

8. Commissioner’s Report 
 Regular PCZBA Meeting Scheduled for October 21, 2015  

 
9. Staff Report 
 
10. Adjournment 

 
 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who 
plan to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this 
meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, 
Village Administrator, at (847) 234-0774 or TDD number (847) 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake Bluff to make reasonable 
accommodations. 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MEETING  
 

AUGUST 19, 2015 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call 
Chair Kraus called to order the regular meeting of the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board 
of Appeals (PCZBA) of the Village of Lake Bluff on Wednesday, June 17, 2015, at 7:00 p.m. in 
the Village Hall Board Room (40 E. Center Avenue).  

 
 The following members were present: 

 
Members: Sam Badger 

Leslie Bishop  
Mary Collins 
Michael Goldsberry  
Elliot Miller 
Gary Peters 
Steven Kraus, Chair 

 
  Also Present: Andrew Fiske, Village Attorney  
  Michael Croak, Buildings Codes Supervisor (BCS) 
 

2. Approval of the June 17, 2015 Meeting Minutes 
Member Goldsberry moved to approve the minutes of the June 17, 2015 meeting with comments 
from Members Bishop and Goldsberry.  Member Miller seconded the motion. The motion passed 
on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

3. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA allocates 15 minutes for those individuals who would like the 
opportunity to address the PCZBA on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
 
There were no requests to address the PCZBA.  
  

4. A Public Hearing to Consider: (i) a Variation from the Maximum Gross Floor Area 
Requirements of Section 10-5-6 of the Village’s Zoning Regulations; and (ii) any Other 
Relief as Required to Convert the Existing Attic into an Office and Recreation Space for the 
Property Located at 403 E. Center Avenue 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and requested an update from Staff. 
 

  BCS Croak stated the Village received a zoning application from Gregory and Barbara Sebolt 
(Petitioner), property owners of 403 E. Center Avenue, to construct two dormers on the rear 
elevation, as well as a stairway to the third story, to allow for the conversion of existing attic space 
to an office and recreation area.  BCS Croak stated pursuant to the current zoning code the lack of 
a staircase, natural light and ventilation meant the existing attic did not meet the criteria to be 
counted as FAR.  The proposed improvements will cause the remodeled attic to meet the criteria 
as FAR, thereby adding 398.25 square feet to the floor area of the house.  



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 2

  Chair Kraus administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing regarding 
the matter. 

 
 Chair Kraus reviewed the public hearing process and invited the Petitioner to the podium. 
 
 Gregory Sebolt thanked the PCZBA and provided background information regarding their 

relocation to the area and noted they were attracted to the character and walkability resources 
available in Lake Bluff.   Mr. Sebolt stated the plan is to utilize the space within the home as an 
office and recreation space and noted the proposed option would protect the integrity of the house 
without causing any impact to the front of the home.  Mr. Sebolt expressed his appreciation to the 
PCZBA for their consideration. 

 
 Edward Deegan, the Architect representing the Petitioners, reviewed the current conditions and 

proposed improvements and noted the proposed modifications would not be visible from Center 
Avenue.   Mr. Deegan stated there are no proposed changes to the site plan or the first floor plan.  
He revised the proposed changes for the second floor and noted the stairway will be constructed 
over the existing stairs into the proposed attic space.  The existing attic right now, the only major 
adjustment aside from the dormers is the relocation of the mechanical room to the rear.  Mr. 
Deegan showed a photo of the existing and a photo illustration of the house with the proposed 
dormers. 

 
 Member Badger asked if there was a basement in the house.  BCS Croak stated as long as the 

basement is not more than 3 ft. out of the ground to the top of the first floor it does not count 
toward floor area. 

  
 Mr. Deegan stated if the basement is more than 3 ft. exposed from the grade surrounding the 

house than it does count toward square footage but it is depressed less than 3 ft. than the basement 
does not count and in this particular case the house was built pursuant to Code and the basement 
does not count toward square footage. 
 
Member Peters stated the house was built with maximum FAR and the request is to circumvent 
the FAR and asked if this would be considered a special privilege.  Mr. Deegan stated the request 
would not be considered a special privilege as the space already exist, and there will not be any 
structural changes except of the addition of the dormers to allow ventilation and egress in the case 
of an emergency. 
 
Member Goldsberry stated the spirit of the FAR requirements are about density and current rules 
are good rules and flag things when they need to be flagged.  The smart thing with this design, that 
he would be comfortable with if other people came to them with the same situation, is it really 
does not change the density or feel of the property.  He stated the proposal is in keeping with the 
spirit of the regulations. 
 
Member Miller asked if the basement had been considered as an alternative.  Mr. Sebolt stated the 
basement is used during the winter months as a recreational space for the children. 
 
Member Miller asked if the neighbors located behind the house had been contacted.  Mr. Sebolt 
stated we have not contacted the neighbors in the rear.  He stated there are trees in the rear of the 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 3

property and only during the winter months are the neighbors exposed to the rear view of the 
house.   
 
Member Badger stated the request does not include any additional impervious surface or removal 
of trees, the request is to utilize the existing space and he does not have any concerns and does 
like the concept. 
 
Member Bishop stated the Petitioner has done their best to ensure the addition is non-visible from 
the street.  She questioned why the Village has a bulk ordinance and stated she wonders whether 
the Board would be doing the wrong thing by approving a house that will be over the limits of the 
bulk ordinance. 
 
Chair Kraus expressed his agreement with Member Bishop and stated the attic should have been 
included in the existing Village regulations.  He stated the plan presented tonight is reasonable and 
will accommodate a growing family.  He stated the PCZBA needs to discuss what bulk means for 
the Village. 
 
Member Collins stated the tradition in Lake Bluff has been that any new construction after the 
adoption of the bulk ordinance is expected to stay within the limits of the bulk ordinance.  We 
have had a lot of Petitioners with older homes come to the PCZBA and we have looked at them 
and if it is an older home it usually does not have a basement and if this was an older home we 
would not struggle with the request because we usually try to help people preserve older homes 
and not get demolished.  She stated the struggle is not so much the concept it is just this is a very 
large house and a 10.9% variation is a large request.  The packet presented was beautifully done 
and easy to understand.  She keep looking at the southern elevation and the dormers are a bit 
overpowering and wish they were not so bulky and massive in appearance.   Member Collins 
commented on her personnel experience and stated the Village needs more consistency on how we 
are dealing with these requests and establish one rule for everyone. 
     
Mr. Deegan stated as you look at the proposed dormer we reviewed a number of scenarios where 
we had a larger shed dormer and felt like that was much more imposing than the proposed 
dormers.  He stated the requested improvements are important to their clients and they would be 
happy to make adjustments and open to any comments.   
 
Member Collins expressed her preference to see a revised plan with smaller dormers. 
 
Chair Kraus stated we have three courses of action: (i) to defer the matter for another month to 
look at alternatives and the other is to get some consensus from the property owners located to the 
south of the home, (ii) the other is to approve this as presented and (iii) to deny the request. 
 
Member Miller expressed his agreement with Commissioners and stated it is not the Petitioner’s 
fault they want to improve the useable space.  He expressed his agreement with Member Collins 
regarding the size of the dormers.  He expressed his concern regarding the neighbors in the rear 
and his preference to contact them to ensure they are okay with the improvements. 
 
Member Goldsberry commented on the current regulations and stated the Petitioner are presenting 
a fair solution as that is dead space in the attic and it is good for the Village for them to maximum 
the economic value of their home.  I think if they would have come with one giant dormer that 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 4

would have warrant concerns but I feel like what they are trying to do will not be visible to the 
streetscape.  He stated he does like the neighbors coming in and communication but he is not 
aware of any neighbors present at tonight’s meeting.  He does not put a lot of importance on that 
as neighbors have a tendency to move and what may be important to one may not be to another.  
He stated what the Petitioners are requesting is within the spirit of the density and stated that 
10.5% is a big percentage to over but it is a bit misleading because we are not going to notice it.   
 
Member Badger stated it sounds like there are two issues here: (i) can the attic space be used as 
useable space and (ii) and is the way they are planning to do it with the dormers acceptable.  He 
stated he does not want to get into the ABR matters so the main question for him is if he is okay 
with them using the attic space.  The improvements will be done in the back and would not affect 
75% of the neighbors and he is okay with the request. 
 
Member Collins stated there is also added FAR by adding the dormers extensions.  Mr. Deegan 
stated the FAR of the attic already exist we extended it out so where the dormers is there is a 
footprint which already exist except we gave it height but remained under the allotted 6 ft and 
does not add square footage to the attic.  Mr. Deegan stated the dormer height is 5 ft. 10 inches 
and volume was added and although sky lighting was concerned there is no way for a fireman 
ladder to get up there and do a sky light.  There are also safety issues to be considered and it is 
nice to have two means of egress and the window safely provides this or the sky light option.      
 
Member Miller stated he is okay with the improvements but his only concern is that the neighbors 
are in agreement.  He take back his preference to lower or change the dormer it does not matter 
necessarily and if the neighbors does not have any concerns he has no problem with the request. 
 
Chair Kraus suggested there may be two items that need to be bought before the PCZBA, 
specifically the a letter of agreement from the east, west and south neighbors and I think we have 
some questions whether the impact of the proposed dormers could be mitigated in some way and I 
think we would like to see some additional items.  Chair Kraus stated the Village’s bulk ordinance 
needs to be revised to avoid this situation, where you have a technically useable space in an attic 
that has not been counted under the Village’s current regulations for FAR or bulk.   

 
 Member Collins stated now that it has been pointed out that the dormer height would be under 6 

ft. you can see from the peak there is plenty of volume present so you are putting in an artificially 
low ceiling to keep the square footage down so I keep like the actual increase is more than the 
10.5%.    She expressed her opinion that a technicality has been used to create a more favorable 
area calculation.  A discussion ensued regarding the dormers. 

 
Member Bishop stated she would like more information on why this isn’t a special privilege and 
questioned how many more special privilege the PCZBA will be asked for in homes similar to this 
that where built throughout the Village. 
 
 
Mr. Sebolt stated a lot of mental thought has been given to the dormers to do the work and get to 
this point and we do not want to delay the process and asked if it was fair to ask the PCZBA to 
make a decision regarding the matter at tonight’s meeting. 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 5

Member Peters asked with respect to the southern neighbor approximately how far is their home 
from your home.  Mr. Deegan expressed his uncertainly regarding the actual distance between the 
houses. 
 
Village Attorney Andrew Fiske stated procedurally this is an application that the PCZBA has final 
approval on, you are not recommending authority, because it is not more than 25% variance.  
Should the PCZBA vote tonight that would be the final decision regarding the matter. 
 
Member Collin stated the PCZBA is very interested in what the neighbors say because its always 
good if they are in support; however, sometimes we have to use our professional judgment. 
 

 As there were no further comments, Chair Kraus closed the public hearing. 
 

Member Miller made a motion to approve the petition with the condition that positive feedback is 
received from the neighbor to the south.  Village Attorney Fiske stated that is a condition you can 
place; however, the PCZBA cannot compel a neighbor to provide any information. There was no 
second motion, the motion failed. 
 
Member Collins made a motion to defer the matter to allow time to received feedback from the 
neighbors and allow the Petitioners additional time to review other alternatives.  Member Bishop 
seconded the motion.  The motion failed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (3)  Peters,  Bishop and Collins 
Nays:  (4) Miller, Goldsberry, Badger and Chair Kraus 
Absent: (0) 
 
Member Badger made a motion to approve the petition as submitted.  Member Bishop seconded 
the motion.   The motion failed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (4)  Goldsberry, Badger and Chair Kraus 
Nays:  (3) Peters, Bishop, Miller and Collins 
Absent: (0) 
 
Village Attorney Fiske stated procedurally you have had a 4 to 3 vote not to approve and he would 
recommend we need to prepare a resolution of denial.  If the Board wishes to continue the 
consideration of the request, they need to make a motion to reconsider.  

 
A discussion regarding feedback from neighbors ensued. 
 
Member Miller made a motion to reconsider the vote to deny approval.  Member Badger seconded 
the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5)  Badger, Bishop, Miller, Goldsberry and Chair Kraus   
Nays:  (2) Collins and Peters 
Absent: (0) 
 
A discussion ensued. 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 6

Member Collins made a motion to continue to matter to the next PCZBA meeting.  Member Peters 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (7)  Badger, Bishop, Collins, Peters, Miller, Goldsberry and Chair Kraus   
Nays:  (0)  
Absent: (0) 

  
5. A Continued Discussion Regarding the Review of Regulations Concerning the Subdivision of 

Lots and the Village’s Bulk Requirements 
Chair Kraus stated the Village Board expressed a desire for the PCZBA to evaluate if the 
Village’s historic preservation regulations are truly achieving the purpose of promoting historic 
and architectural preservation in the Village.  He stated the Historic Preservation Commission 
(HPC) has suggested that the demolition delay be extended to 365 days.   
 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA has been asked to review bulk and massing regulations and the 
Village’s subdivision regulations.  He stated the ABR is reviewing whether to implement 
architectural review requirements for new single-family homes. 
 
Chair Kraus stated what we may want to think about to reduce, limit or mitigate the effect of tear-
downs.  Then to also think about bulk and mass.  He stated they discussion is to submit ideas to 
the Village Board for consideration. 
 
Chair Kraus stated there is in the subdivision code an inherent right of a property owner to 
subdivide an individual lot into two buildable lots, as long as each of the new lots meet the 
minimum standards of the underlined zoning.  He suggested that the streamlined process be 
eliminated for subdivisions that add buildable lots.  
 
Chair Kraus also suggested that the Village might consider limiting the FAR of a new house that 
replaces a teardown to a certain percentage of the floor area of the house that was torn down. 
 
Member Goldsberry stated how Chair Kraus is proposing to think about this is interesting.  He 
stated there are some things in the 1997 Comprehensive Plan that make sense to him, such as the 
intent to preserve the unique residential character of the area. Member Goldsberry asked what 
tools the PCZBA has to help accomplish its objective of preserving Lake Bluff’s character. 
 
Chair Kraus asked if we can put a provision that requires the property to be publicly marketed 
before demolition. 
 
Member Badger stated it is a great idea to market the properties for sale to see if you can get the 
highest price but I do not think that we would have the mechanism to do that.  He asked how we 
differential with selling property to adopted owners and developers do.  He stated he struggle a bit 
because Lake Bluff east is diverse in term of homes and lot sizes and it is hard for him to put a 
finger on what the look and feel in Lake Bluff is right.  He stated he support requesting  
developers or homeowners with tear downs to go through a process but this may inhibit some of 
the process and possible deter some people preserving the homes. 
 
Member Goldsberry noted that the Village comprehensive plan stated we want to encourage 
rehabilitation and control the development in an orderly manner compatible with neighboring 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 7

properties and stated he does not feel like that process is happening.  Member Goldsberry stated 
preservation is an important element and the more we talk about what we are trying to preserve I 
think it may help us identify the tools needed.  He also stated prospective buyers should know 
upfront what type of property they are purchasing in the Village.   
 
Chair Kraus suggested that the Village might consider a zoning overlay in certain portions that 
would increase the required lot size before it could be subdivided. 
 
Member Miller recommended changing the zoning regulations starting with garage sizes.  A 
discussion followed. 
 
Chair Kraus stated the same applies to the porches as they were not part of the original Lake Bluff 
streetscape. 
 
Chair Kraus stated the 2000 proposal was to provide an incentive to encourage additions versus 
teardowns. 
 
Member Bishop stated she is struggling with when we talk about preserving Lake Bluff what does 
that really mean.  She stated the Village is really the people and we should consider what they 
want who will come here and build up unity. 
 
Member Collins stated the other matter to consider is property values and smaller lot sizes will not 
be popular in the Village as this would decrease the property value.  Member Collins stated there 
should be a balance the Village character and property value.  A discussion followed. 
 
Member Bishop I do not think I’m talking about so much of a subdivision as not being able to 
demolish an older house and building a newer home because it is expensive to renovate older 
homes. 
 
Member Badger asked if there were any proactive tools available for use.  BCS Croak stated 
Highland Park adopted the lakefront overlay zone and ordinance in 2000, which doubled the 
required lot area, for subdivisions that create new buildable lots.    
 
Member Bishop asked if it was possible to amend the zoning regulations regarding setback 
restrictions for teardown and new homes.  Chair Kraus stated people have a right to do teardowns 
and subdivide their lots, it is a question of what the residents of the Village would like to see 
happen as a result.  There have been a couple of tools discussed such as side yard setbacks, 
overlay zoning district which would require a larger footprint if you actually demolish then 
rebuild a home and the concept of if you have a house on a lot and you tear it down the bulk 
cannot exceed a certain percentage than the existing structure.   
 
Chair Kraus questioned how comfortable are we as a commission to take on what the Village 
Board has asked us to do, which is to look at how we can deal with subdivisions, bulk and mass, 
to put in the speed brake so that we have appropriate control, so that we have a common sense of 
what a redevelopment of a particular parcel should look like.  He expressed his preference to see 
some modern things pop up and some sense of a street wall and how to maintain that continuity of 
character with new construction. 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 8

Member Bishop asked how long it would take to change the regulations.  Chair Kraus explained 
the process.  
 
Member Collins stated on the question of teardowns that is a struggle everywhere and wondered if 
there were any existing ideas to solve the problem.  A suggestion when it comes to bulk that we 
should identify where our zoning code did not quite serve us well and allowed an inappropriate 
size home to be built in a specific spot and see how it was approved. 
 
Chair Kraus stated the process is to complete this as soon as possible and recommended that each 
commissioner provide Staff with their ideas before the September PCZBA meeting, these are 
concepts that we want to share with the other elected officials as way we can think about 
subdivisions and how do we deal with when there is a teardown how do we get a handle on what 
is replaced, and whether it is a concept of an overlay district.  You have a teardown, you can built 
a big house on a small lot or whether it is the 20% rule, where it can 20% more than the previous 
structure regardless of the maximum. 
 
Chair Kraus asked how can we avoid subdivisions and teardowns and what can be done to 
encourage relocation and what could be built should a home is demolished.  A discussion 
followed. 
 
Member Bishop stated we have been looking at the older historic area of Lake Bluff and asked if 
we should also be looking at the map of the Terraces to show us its potential for teardowns.  She 
recommended we consider the entire Village including the Terrace area.  A discussion followed 
regarding subdivisions. 
 
Member Peters asked if the law has been established regarding this issue.  If your house is on a lot 
that theoretically could be subdivided into 3 lots would it not be problem if the Village all of a 
sudden said you cannot subdivide the lot.  Village Attorney Fiske stated generally speaking you 
have the ability to, if you start subdividing that lot under the current regulations, if you were to 
submit a subdivision application under the current regulations.  That is where the concept of 
having some sort of right to do that would come into place; however, if you were not taking that 
action and subdivision regulations were changed pursuant to notice, where you had the ability to 
comment.  Once the subdivisions regulations were changed and became effective they would then 
apply.  
 
In response to a comment from Member Collins, Village Attorney Fiske stated tax parcels and 
zoning lots are different.  There can be a property located on multiple tax parcels but it is a single 
zoning lot.  So in order to build two homes you would have to subdivide it into two lots.  A 
discussion ensued regarding multiple buildable lots. 
 
Member Collins questioned the legality regarding historic homes sitting on multiple legally 
buildable lots.  A discussion ensued. 
 
Member Goldsberry stated it is hard to determine what it is we are trying to preserve. 
 
Chair Kraus asked what we can do to ensure that if something is torn down, what we can do to the 
subdivision of zoning to ensure what is built fits in.  He recommended reviewing how do we fit a 
streetscape. 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 9

 
Member Collins stated we need to be cautious of our terminology and expressed her 
understanding of the definition regarding a subdivision then asked the Village Attorney to 
research subdivisions.     
  
Chair Kraus stated one thing that has come to his attention is that property that is owned by the 
Village, Park District and School District has underlined zoning as shown on the zoning map, so 
there is no classification of public use of a particular parcel.  That means if one of those entities 
would desire to sell property that it would revert to the underlined zoning without going through a 
rezoning process. 
 
Chair Kraus recommend the creation of a public use zoning process, so the community would 
have an opportunity should there be a potential for land use changes, there would be a potential 
for Village input by going through a rezoning process. 
 
Chair Kraus stated next month we can come up with a list of uses and ideas for the ABR, HPC and 
PCZBA that we think are interesting.  
 
Member Miller suggested Staff use green or blue coloring as opposed to red. 
 
Chair Kraus recommended a special meeting to discuss agenda items #5.   
 
It was the consensus of the PCZBA to table agenda item #7, Requirements, to the next meeting. 
 

6. Commissioner’s Report  
Chair Kraus stated the next regular PCZBA meeting will be September 16, 2015. 
 

7. Staff’s Report 
There was no Staff report. 
 

8. Adjournment 
As there was no further business to come before the PCZBA, Member Goldsberry moved to 
adjourn the meeting.  Member Collins seconded the motion.  The motion was approved on a 
unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 9:29 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Mike Croak 
Building Codes Supervisor 










































































































































































